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I.
INTRODUCTION

Q.
What is your name and business address?  

A.
My name is Alan E. Rathbun.  My business address is 1300 S. Evergreen Park Drive SW, PO Box 7250, Olympia, Washington, 98504-7250.                           .  

Q.
By whom are you employed and in what capacity?  

A.
I am employed by the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission as the Pipeline Safety Director.  

Q.
In general, what are the duties of the Pipeline Safety Director?

A.
I direct a comprehensive interstate and intrastate pipeline safety program regulating natural gas and hazardous liquid pipelines operating in Washington.  This program enhances public safety through adoption of standards, compliance inspections, technical assistance, public education and enforcement.

Q.
What are your educational and professional experience and qualifications?

A.
I graduated with a bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from the University of Minnesota in 1973.  I hold a professional engineers license (certificate number 16957) in the state of Washington, qualified in civil engineering.  I worked in civil consulting engineering offices for approximately 6 years responsible for the design and project management of road, utility, storm drainage and other public work projects.  


For 20 years I worked in the Business and Professions Division of the Washington Department of Licensing responsible for regulation of individuals and businesses practicing in the non-healthcare arena.  Since August 30, 2005, the Utilities and Transportation Commission have employed me in my current capacity.

Q.
What experience outside the Commission directly relates to your current regulatory role?




A.
My 20 years of experience with the Department of Licensing gave me excellent experience in regulation.  I began as an investigator for the Board that regulates the practice of engineering and land surveying.  This experience gave me insight into the evidentiary requirement for administrative law under the Administrative Procedures Act as well as the adjudicatory procedure.  From there, I went on to manage the Engineer and Land Surveyor program, where I set policy on enforcement and penalty assessment for violation of state rule and administrative law.  I was later promoted to Assistant Director of the Business and Professions Division, where I was responsible for the administration and regulation of 30 separate licensing and certification programs.

II.
SCOPE OF TESTIMONY

Q.
What is the scope of your testimony in this proceeding?

A.
I will briefly summarize Staff’s investigation of this incident and provide testimony supporting Staff’s recommended changes to the practices of Puget Sound Energy, Inc. (PSE), and improvement to PSE’s facilities.  In addition, present Staff’s recommendation that the Commission impose a penalty in the amount of $125,000.
 III.
Summary of Staff’s Overall Recommendations
Q.
Are you familiar with the recommendations of witnesses Dr. Bell and Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu regarding what the Commission should order PSE to do in the future?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Do you have an exhibit that sets forth each of Staff’s recommendations? 
A.
Yes.  My Exhibit No. ___ (AER-2) lists all five Staff recommendations.
Q.
Please summarize Staff’s primary recommendation in this case.  

A.
Staff strongly recommends that the Commission direct PSE to assess the risk on its coated steel pipelines that were installed more than five years prior to the application of impressed current cathodic protection, and to develop a remediation plan.  This is Recommendation No 1 on my exhibit.


In his testimony, Dr. Bell notes that PSE’s older coated steel pipelines are at risk due to corrosion.  Depending on the date the pipe was installed and the date impressed current cathodic protection was applied to these systems, some of PSE’s infrastructure may be approaching the end of its design life.



In conducting this assessment, Staff recommends PSE use the best available technology in assessing the risk of this infrastructure.  Also, it should be stressed that risk is based on the probability and consequences of failure.  PSE’s risk analysis should include risk of pipe failure, and what public safety may result from these failures. 

Q.
What other recommendations do other witnesses for Staff make?
A.
Staff also recommends PSE amend its Operating Manual and training practices to alert its employees and contractors that zero and positive cathodic protection readings indicate a serious deficiency in the cathodic protection system and that remediation needs to be initiated without undue delay.  The Commission should also require PSE to provide more explicit direction regarding the use of analog and digital devices that are used to take cathodic protection readings.  This is Recommendation No. 2 on my exhibit.


While it appears PSE did not violate Commission rules requiring periodic monitoring of the impressed current cathodic protection system, it is clear that neither in PSE’s Operating Manual or its practices did PSE recognize as highly significant the 0.00 volt pipe to soil readings PSE took.  That must be changed.  This is the Recommendation No. 3 on my exhibit.
The security of PSE’s impressed current rectifiers is also highlighted in Staff’s investigation.  Rectifiers are essential in maintaining corrosion protection.  As Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu testifies, the Commission should require PSE to make these facilities secure from tampering.  Further, because of the chance for human error, PSE should be required to document each visit to these rectifiers to assure accountability.  This is Recommendation No. 4 on my exhibit.


Finally, relative to the requirements of Commission’s Order No. 1, Staff recommends PSE should be relieved of requirement for monthly leak surveys in the area served by the Vasa Park rectifier.  However, given the vintage of the remaining coated steel pipe, we recommend that annual leak surveys be required for metal pipe in the Spiritridge neighborhood until this pipe is replaced with material not conducive to corrosion failure.  This is Recommendation No. 5, the last recommendation on my exhibit.
Q. 
Should the Commission also consider any of the five Staff recommendations for rulemaking?

A.
Yes.  Those recommendations dealing with assessing system integrity for aged steel pipe systems, recognition and reaction to zero or positive voltage readings on cathodic protection systems, and security of rectifiers should be considered for rulemaking.  All natural gas pipeline companies should follow these requirements.

IV.
APPROPRIATE MONETARY PENALTIES

Q.
What subjects do you address in the Part of your testimony?

A.
In Section A, I describe my understanding of the Commission’s penalty statutes relating to this case.  In Section B, I describe the violations Staff witness Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu has documented in his testimony.  In Section C, I discuss how the $125,000 monetary penalty amount was calculated and why it is appropriate.


A.
Relevant Commission Penalty Statutes and Rules

Q.
Are you familiar with Commission laws and rules in effect during 2004 that establish maximum penalties for gas companies for violations of Commission gas pipeline safety rules and statutes?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Please provide your understanding of these laws and rules.

A.
RCW 80.28.210 states that “every person or corporation transporting natural gas by pipeline” is subject to safety regulation by the Commission.  It goes on to state that every such person or corporation must “maintain such facilities as will be safe and efficient.”  Further, this Section .210 authorizes the Commission to adopt rules and regulations to assure the safety of these pipelines.  


RCW 80.28.212 authorizes the Commission to assess civil penalties against any gas company that violates Section .210 or any regulation adopted under that Section.  The Commission is required to adopt the civil penalty levels by rule.  The levels cannot exceed the penalties specified in federal pipeline safety laws “in effect on July 23, 1995.”  


Section .212 also describes factors the Commission shall consider in setting the penalty amount.  These factors are: (1) the “size of the business of the person charged;” (2) “the gravity of the violation;” and (3) “the good faith of the gas company in attempting to achieve compliance after notification of the violation.”              


WAC 480-93-223 establishes that monetary penalties are not to exceed $25,000 per violation for each day the violation persists.  According to that rule, the maximum civil penalty for a related series of violations is $500,000.

Q.
Is it your understanding that the penalties for violating RCW 80.28.210 and for violating safety rules adopted pursuant to RCW 80.28.210 are the same or different?

A.
It is my understanding that the penalties are the same.  As stated in RCW 80.28.212: “Any gas company that violates any provision of RCW 80.28.210 … or of any regulation issued thereunder, shall be subject to a civil penalty …”

Q.
Is PSE a gas company?

A.
Yes.

Q.
Does Staff recommend PSE be penalized for violating both the rules and RCW 80.28.210 if the same conduct violates RCW 80.28.210 and a rule adopted thereunder?

A.
No.   In this situation, the violations are cumulative.  In this case, Staff recommends that penalties be assessed either for violating the cathodic protection requirements of Commission gas safety rules, or for PSE maintaining its facilities in an unsafe condition in violation of RCW 80.28.210, but not both.



B.
Nature of PSE’s Violations of Commission Statutes and Rules
Q.
What violations of Commission laws and rules are alleged in the Commission’s Complaint in this docket?

A.
Paragraph 21 of the Commission’s Complaint alleges violations of 49 C.F.R. § 192.463(a).  Paragraph 31 alleges violations of RCW 80.28.210.

Q.
Does Staff’s case show PSE violated RCW 80.28.210?

A.
Yes.  RCW 80.28.210 states in part that every gas company “shall construct and maintain such facilities as will be safe and efficient.”  As Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu testifies, PSE did not maintain its facilities in a safe condition when the rectifier was cross-wired. 

Q.
Does Staff’s case show PSE violated 49 C.F.R. § 463(a)?

A.
Yes.  As Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu explains, while the rectifier was cross-wired, PSE did not provide the levels of cathodic protection required by 49 C.F.R. §192.463(a).  The Commission had adopted that rule in WAC 480-93-010.
Q.
Are these violations for essentially the same conduct?

A.
Yes.  Both violations arise from the rectifier being cross-wired.  

C. How the Penalty Amount Was Calculated and Why it is Appropriate
Q.
You have testified that the Commission should assess a monetary penalty of $125,000.  How was that amount calculated?

A.
The recommended penalty amount of $125,000 was calculated by multiplying five days of violations times the maximum $25,000 per violation, per day penalty amount under WAC 480-93-223.

Q.
How were the five days of violations determined?

A.
As Staff witness Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu testifies, PSE violated 49 C.F.R. §192.463(a) and RCW 80.28.210 through the cross-wiring of the Vasa Park Rectifier.  PSE failed to provide safe and efficient pipeline facilities during at least the period August 30, 2004, to September 3, 2004, a five day period.

Q.
Was the rectifier cross-wired for only five days? 
A.
It has not been determined whether the rectifier was cross-wired for only five days.  As Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu testifies, the available information indicates the Vasa Park Rectifier was cross-wired for at least 5 days, from August 30, 2004, to September 3, 2004, and at most 64 days, from July 1, 2004, to September 3, 2004.  
Q.
Earlier in your testimony, you noted that RCW 80.28.212 identifies three factors the Commission shall consider when determining the amount of penalty.  How do you recommend the Commission consider the first factor, “the size of the business?”
A.
PSE is Washington’s largest local gas distribution company.  It had total operating revenue from its gas operations of around $760,000,000.  A $125,000 penalty level is small in comparison to the size of PSE.
Q.
How do you recommend the Commission consider the second factor, “the gravity of the violation?”
A.
A cross-wired rectifier presents a very serious, unsafe condition.  As Staff witnesses Dr. Bell and Mr. Chu each testify, a cross-wired rectifier not only eliminates the corrosion protection intended to be provided by an impressed current cathodic protection system, the reversed polarity resulting from the cross-wired system can promote significant metal loss from the pipe in those areas where the steel pipe is exposed to the soil.   


Mr. Kuang-Shi Chu also testifies that it is not clear who cross-wired the rectifier.  However, PSE is responsible for maintaining the safety of its system.  As he explains, PSE took two 0.00 cathodic protection readings, one on August 30, 2004 and the other on September 1, 2004.  PSE was on notice that a serious problem existed, regardless of who cross-wired the rectifier.



In addition, the rectifier could have been cross-wired for as long as 64 days.  That is another factor that has at least some weight in determining the gravity of the violation.

Q.
How do you recommend the Commission consider the third factor, “the good faith of the company in attempting to achieve compliance after notification of the violation?”


A.
This factor may refer to the time PSE was notified by the Commission.  If so, then this factor does not apply in this case, because PSE had re-wired the rectifier before the Commission Staff learned the rectifier was cross-wired.



This factor may refer to the time PSE was on notice it was out of compliance with the rules.  If so, then as I just mentioned, PSE was clearly on notice as of August 30, 2004, that the Vasa Park cathodic protection rectifier was not providing the corrosion protection required by the rules, as evidenced by the 0.00 voltage reading on that date.


PSE did not immediately respond to that reading.  The impetus for PSE to visit and then correctly re-wire the rectifier on September 3, 2004 was not the zero cathodic protection readings PSE took on August 30, 2004 and September 1, 2004, but rather the explosion that occurred the day earlier.  



In other words, PSE treated the zero readings like any other pipe to soil potential reading that was less than the required minimum -0.85 volts.  If it was not for the house explosion on September 2, 2004, it appears that the rectifier may not have been checked until some future time within the 90 day mitigation period allowed under WAC 480-93-110, or within the 2⅟2 month interval for inspecting rectifiers required by 49 C.F.R. § 192.465(b).  
Q. Does this conclude your direct testimony?

A.
Yes.  

